FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
7/15/2021 3:27 PM
No. 54279-0-II

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/16/2021 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

99988-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

JEFFREY BUTTERFIELD, Petitioner

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JUDGE DAVID L. EDWARDS

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Jeffrey Butterfield, the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Jeffrey Butterfield seeks review of the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on June 15, 2021. A copy of the opinion is attached in Appendix A.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Did the trial court abuse its discretion when it imposed an exceptional sentence of 1,520 months under RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Jeffrey Butterfield of two counts each of rape of a child first degree, rape of a child in the second degree and third degree, and incest in the first degree. *State v. Butterfield*,10 Wn.App.2d 399, 447 P.3d 650 (2019). The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 1,520 months, each sentence to run consecutive to the other. *Id.* at 402.

On appeal, the Court reversed the exceptional sentence, finding the jury instructions and special verdict forms did not contain

all the essential elements of the statutory aggravating factor.

Additionally, the trial court erroneously imposed an exceptional sentence relying on a different statutory factor than the incomplete one found by the jury. *Id.* The Court remanded for resentencing. *Id.* at 406.

At the resentencing hearing, with one prior conviction, and the multiplier for other current sex offenses, Mr. Butterfield's offender score was calculated at '22'. CP 57-58. The state recommended the court impose the same sentence of 126 years, under RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c).

Defense counsel questioned the applicability of the "free crimes aggravator" noting convictions for the class A felonies each had a statutory maximum of a lifetime sentence. RP 7-8, CP 58.

Counsel also noted that Mr. Butterfield's release was subject to the Indeterminate Sentencing Review Board (ISRB). RP 9.

The court said, "Mr. Butterfield should ... never be a in position where another human being is actually considering releasing him from custody. I'm ...not going to allow it to happen to the extent its within my power...." RP 11.

The court imposed the maximum of the standard range for each count to run consecutively because "an exceptional sentence

is appropriate to ensure that the punishment is proportionate to the seriousness of the offenses and that none of the defendant's current offenses go unpunished." CP 55.

On this second appeal, the Court affirmed the exceptional consecutive sentences, finding the 126-year sentence not clearly excessive; it remanded for amendment of the community custody terms on four of the convictions. Op. at 1,6.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. Imposition of a Longer Than Life Sentence Is Clearly
Excessive And Outside The Range Of Acceptable Choices.

The Sentencing Reform Act set guiderails on discretionary decisions affecting imposition of a criminal sentence. The trial court must impose a sentence within the standard range unless it finds substantial and compelling reasons to justify a departure. RCW 9.94A.535; *State v. Tili,* 108 Wn.App. 289, 296, 29 P.3d 1285 (2001).

In the circumstance where some current offenses may go unpunished, the court is authorized to exercise its discretion and impose an exceptional sentence outside the standard range. RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c); State v. France, 176 Wn.App. 463, 470, 308 P.3d

812 (2013). Where the court imposes consecutive sentences for crimes sentenced at the same time, it is classified as an exceptional sentence. RCW 9.94A.589 (1)(a).

On review of an exceptional sentence, the appellate court asks (1) are the reasons supplied by the sentencing judge supported by the record; (2) do those reasons justify a sentence outside the standard range; and (3) was the sentence clearly excessive or too lenient. RCW 9.94A.585(4). The court applies the clearly erroneous standard to the first question, the de novo standard to the second, and the abuse of discretion standard to the third. *State v. Law*, 154 Wn.2d 85, 93, 110 P.3d 717 (2005).

At issue in this case is the third factor: whether the court abused its discretion and imposed a clearly excessive sentence when it imposed a sentence beyond a lifetime.

The statutory maximum sentence for a class A felony is a term of life imprisonment. RCW 9A.20.021(1)(a). In Mr. Butterfield's case, the standard range for one of the Class A felony convictions was a 26.5 year minimum term of confinement. Fearing that some of Mr. Butterfield's crime would potentially go unpunished, the court set sentences to be served consecutively, imposing more than 126 years minimum term.

A sentencing court has "all but unbridled discretion" in fashioning the structure and length of an exceptional sentence. *State v. Halsey,* 140 Wn.App. 313, 325, 165 P.3d 409 (2007). Nevertheless, this Court will find a sentence clearly excessive if it is based on untenable grounds or reasons, or its length "shocks the conscience" in light of the record. *State v. Knutz,* 161 Wn.App. 395, 410-11, 253 P.3d 437 (2011). A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices. *In re Marriage of Littlefield,* 133 Wn.2d 39, 47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997).

Here, even under the lenient abuse of discretion standard, the sentence of 126 years is manifestly unreasonable. Mr. Butterfield cannot possibly serve a sentence beyond his life span. *State v. Oxborrow,* 106 Wn.2d 525, 531, 723 P.2d 1123 (1986).

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals reasoned that if Mr.

Butterfield lived beyond the minimum of a 318 month sentence¹

(the term for a Class A felony) some of his crimes could go unpunished. Op. at 7. If he were to survive beyond that date, he would be subject to the ISRB end of sentence review. RCW 9.95.420.

¹ At the end of a 318-month sentence, Mr. Butterfield would be approximately 86 years old.

The trial court reasoned it should impose the lengthy exceptional sentence because it did not want Mr. Butterfield to be "in position where another human being is actually considering releasing him from custody. I'm ...not going to allow it to happen to the extent its within my power...." RP 11. The court appears to have been concerned with dangerousness. The ISRB is specifically tasked public safety and will not release a prisoner until he is fully rehabilitated: "The ISRB shall not, however, until his... maximum term expires, release a prisoner, unless in its opinion his... rehabilitation has been complete and he... is a fit subject for release." *In re Personal Restraint of Dyer*, 164 Wn.2d 274, 289, 189 P.3d 759 (2008). When Mr. Butterfield is 86 years of age, the ISRB would evaluate whether he would be a danger to the public, and release or hold him commensurate with that evaluation.

This Court may accept review where the issue is a matter of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Given the virtually unfettered discretion for the length of an exceptional sentence, Mr. Butterfield respectfully asks this Court to review whether an exceptional sentence which extends beyond a lifetime is clearly excessive.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authorities, Mr. Butterfield respectfully asks this Court to accept his timely petition.

Submitted this 15th day of July 2021.

Marie Trombley

Marie Trombley WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 98338