FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/11/2021 11:10 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 99988-1

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JEFFREY L. BUTTERFIELD SR., Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE

THE HONORABLE DAVID L. EDWARDS , JUDGE

OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

NORMA J. TILLOTSON Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

WILLIAM A. LERAAS

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

WSBA # 15489

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

# TABLES

# **

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Is an exceptional consecutive sentence of 1520 months (over 126 years) clearly excessive when Petitioner was convicted of eight sex offenses involving his sexual abuse of his twin daughters from the time they four or five years old until they were sixteen, where Petitioner had an offender score of 22 and several of the crimes would have gone unpunished had the sentences been ordered to be served concurrently?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner sufficiently set forth the factual and procedural history of this case in his Petition for Review.

#### E. ARGUMENT

As the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, a trial court "has 'all but unbridled discretion' in fashioning the structure and length of an exceptional sentence." *State v. France*, 176 Wn. App. 463, 308 P.3d 812 (2013) (quoting *State v. Halsey*, 140 Wn. App. 313, 165 P.3d 409 (2007).

"If the sentencing court finds that an exceptional sentence outside the standard sentence range should be imposed, the sentence is subject to review only as provided for in RCW 9.94A.585(4)." RCW 9.94A.535.

"To reverse a sentence which is outside the standard sentence range, the reviewing court must find: (a) Either that the reasons supplied by the sentencing court are not supported by the record which was before the judge or that those reasons do not justify an sentence outside the standard sentence range for that offense; or (b) that the sentence imposed was clearly excessive or clearly too lenient." RCW 9.94A.585 (4). A trial court is only required "to set forth its for its decision to *impose* an exceptional sentence. There is no such statutory requirement as to the *length* of an exceptional sentence." *State v. Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d 388, 392, 894 P.2d 1308 (1995) (citing to former RCW 9.94A.120(3)).

"An exceptional sentence must be reversed if the reasons for the exceptional sentence are not supported by the record or if those reasons do not justify an exceptional sentence. RCW 9.94A.210(4). If the reasons are supported by the record, and justify an exceptional sentence, then, to reverse an exceptional sentence, we must find 'that the sentence imposed was clearly excessive or clearly too lenient.' "*Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d at 392 (quoting former RCW 9.94A.210 (4) b)).

"[T]he 'length of an exceptional sentence should not be reversed as 'clearly excessive' absent an abuse of discretion.' "Id (quoting State v. Oxborrow, 106 Wn.2d 525, 530, 723 P.2d 1123 (1986)) (other citations omitted). "Action [sentence] is excessive if it 'goes beyond the usual, reasonable, or lawful limit.' Thus, for action to be clearly excessive, it must be shown to be clearly unreasonable, i.e., exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, or an action that no reasonable person would have taken." State v. Oxborrow, 106 Wn.2d 525, 531, 723 P.2d 1123 (1986); State v. Branch, 129 Wn.2d 635, 649-50, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996) (citing Oxborrow, 106 Wn.2d at 53) ("A sentence is clearly excessive if it is based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons, or an action no reasonable judge would have taken.").

When examining whether the trial court abused its discretion by imposing a sentence that is clearly excessive, the reviewing court does not engage in a proportionality review to determine whether the sentence is comparable to sentences in other similar cases. *Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d at 396 (addressing appellant's contention that "the length of an exceptional sentence must be proportionate to sentences in similar cases," stating "[w]e reject a proportionality review for compelling reasons"). This is because the trial court's sentencing must be based solely upon the record

before the court. RCW 9.94A.585(5) ("A review under this section shall be made solely upon the record that was before the sentencing court."); see also Ritchie, 126 Wn.2d at 397 ("[A] proportionality review is inconsistent with [former] RCW 9.94A.210(5) which limits review solely of the record before the trial court.").

"The court shall consider the risk assessment report and presentence reports, if any, including any victim impact statement and criminal history, and allow arguments from the prosecutor, the defense counsel, the offender, the victim, the survivor of the victim, or a representative of the victim or survivor, and an investigative law enforcement officer as to the sentence to be imposed." RCW 9.94A.500(1).

Regarding the length of an exceptional sentence, this Court cited with approval Division One's opinion in *State v. Ross*, 71 Wn. App. 556, 861 P.2d 473 (1993). "The Court of Appeals, Division one, has held correctly that 'the sentencing court need not state reasons in addition to those relied upon to justify the imposition of an exceptional sentence above the standard range in the first instance to justify the length of the sentence imposed.' (Footnote omitted.). *State v. Ross*, 71 Wn. App. 556, 861 P.2d 473 (1993). We agree." *Ritchie*, 126 Wn.2d at 395. This Court

went on to state that "[t]he analysis in *Ross* explains well the status of the law:

A careful examination of each of the words used to explain the abuse of discretion standard demonstrates why the pattern in the vast majority of cases cited above has developed. In order to abuse its discretion in determining the length of an exceptional sentence above the standard range, the trial court must do one of two things: rely on an impermissible reason (the "untenable grounds/untenable reasons" prong of the standard) or impose a sentence which is so long that, in light of the record, it shocks the conscience of the reviewing court (the "no reasonable person" prong of the standard). Indeed, once a reviewing court has determine that the facts support the reasons given for exceeding the range and that those reasons are substantial and compelling, there is often nothing more to say. The trial and appellate courts simply reiterate those reasons to explain why a particular number of months is appropriate. This is what our courts refer to when they recite that the length of the sentence must have "some basis in the record". See, e.g., [State v.] Brown, 60 Wn. App. [60.] at 77 [, 802 P.2d 803 (1990), review denied, 116 Wn.2d 1025, 812 P.2d 103 (1991) ]; State v. Sanchez, 69 Wn. App. 195, 208, 848 P.2d 735, review denied, 121 Wn.2d 1031, 856 P.2d 382 (1993).

(Footnote omitted.) *Ross*, at 571-72, 861 P.2d 473, *Accord State v. Bedker*, 74 Wn. App. 87, m101, 871 P.2d 673 (1994)

Ritchie, 126 Wn.2d at 395-96

Pursuant to RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), it is assumed that the confinement on individual counts will run concurrently. An imposition of consecutive terms of confinement is an exceptional sentence.

An appellate court analyzes the appropriateness of an exceptional sentence by answering the following three questions under the indicated standards of review:

- 1. Are the reasons given by the sentencing judge supported by evidence in the record? As to this, the standard of review is clearly erroneous.
- 2. Do the reasons justify a departure from the standard range? This question is reviewed de novo as a matter of law.
- 3. Is the sentence clearly too excessive or too lenient? The standard of review on this last question is abuse of discretion.

State v. Law, 154 Wn.2d 85, 93, 110 P.3d 717, 720 (2005); State v. Ha'mim, 132 Wn.2d 834, 840, 940 P.2d 633 (1997) (citing former RCW 9.94A.210(4), State v. Branch, 129 Wn.2d 635, 645–46, 919 P.2d 1228 (1996) and State v. Allert, 117 Wn.2d 156, 163, 815 P.2d 752 (1991).

In the Appellant's case, the State asked the sentencing court to find "substantial and compelling" circumstances to impose an exceptional sentence based on RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c). Without such a finding and the imposition of an exceptional sentence the Appellant's sentences would run concurrently, meaning that some conduct would go unpunished due to the Appellant's high offender score.

A defendant's standard range sentence reaches its maximum limit at an offender score of "9 or more." RCW 9.94A.510. An offender score is computed based on both prior and current convictions. RCW

9.94A.525(1). For the purposes of calculating an offender score when imposing an exceptional sentence, current offenses are treated as prior convictions. *State v. Newlun*, 142 Wn. App. 730, 742, 176 P.3d 529 (2008). Where a defendant has multiple current offenses that result in an offender score greater than nine, further increases in the offender score do not increase the standard sentence range. *See State v. Alvarado*, 164 Wn.2d 556, 561–63, 192 P.3d 345 (2008).

However, a trial court may impose an exceptional sentence under the free crimes aggravator when "[t]he defendant has committed multiple current offenses and the defendant's high offender score results in some of the current offenses going unpunished." RCW 9.94A.535(2)(c). In other words, if the number of current offenses results in the legal conclusion that the defendant's presumptive sentence is identical to that which would be imposed if the defendant had committed fewer current offenses, then the court may impose an exceptional sentence. *Newlun*, 142 Wn. App. at 743, 176 P.3d 529. *See State v. France*, 176 Wn. App. 463, 468–69, 308 P.3d 812, 815–16 (2013).

The trial court has "'all but unbridled discretion" in fashioning the structure and length of an exceptional sentence." *France*, 176 Wn. App. at 470; *State v. Halsey*, 140 Wn. App. 313, 325, 165 P.3d 409 (2007)

(quoting *State v. Creekmore*, 55 Wn. App. 852, 864, 783 P.2d 1068 (1989)).

Petitioner argues that a sentence of 126 years is manifestly unreasonable as he cannot possibly serve a sentence beyond his lifespan and cites *Oxborrow*, *supra*, at 531, in support. Petition for Review page 5. On page 531 of its opinion in *Oxborrow* this Court discusses the "Minnesota rule", which generally limits exceptional sentences to twice the presumptive range; this Court declined to adopt the rule. *Oxborrow*, 106 Wn.2d at 531. *Oxborrow* does not support Petitioner's position.

Petitioner further points out that he will be 86 years old if he lives beyond the minimum term of 318 months, but provides no authority that age is a factor in determining if an exceptional sentence is excessive.

Finally, Petitioner asks this Court to "review whether an exceptional sentence which extends beyond a lifetime is clearly excessive." Petition for Review page 6. As the Court of Appeals correctly pointed out, "Butterfield does not explain how, given that concurrent sentences would already result in what he contends is a de facto life sentence, an even longer sentence shocks the conscience . . . particularly in light of the fact that several of Butterfield's eight current offenses would not have otherwise been punished due to his exceptionally high offender

score and in light of the particular heinous nature of these offenses." Opinion No. 54279-0-II at 7-8.

Trial courts have imposed, and the appellate courts of this state have upheld, consecutive life sentences. *See State v. McNeil*, 59 Wn. App. 478, 798 P.2d 817 (1990).

When looking at the three questions posed by *State v. Law*, the reasons given by the sentencing court are clearly supported in the record. In this case, the Appellant was convicted of eight felony sex offenses. Including all the crimes at bar, the Appellant has an offender score of 22 on each count. CP 58. This greatly exceeds the maximum offender score of 9. As each other current offense counts for three points, the Appellant reached his maximum offender score after accounting for counts 1-4. This clearly leaves half of the convictions incurring no additional punishment. As outlined above, an offender score in excess of nine is a basis that justifies a departure from the standard range. Thus, the first two part of the *Law* inquiry have been satisfied.

The question for this Court is whether the sentence imposed in this case was "clearly too excessive." *State v. Law*, 154 Wn.2d at 93. The facts in this case established that the Appellant sexually abused his two daughters for more than a decade. If not for the exceptional sentence,

several crimes would go unpunished. A reasonable court could conclude that that it is Mr. Butterfield's conduct that shocks the conscience, not the court's sentencing decision.

Considering the totality of the facts and circumstances of this case, the sentence imposed was not an abuse of the court's discretion.

### F. CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the Petition for Review should be denied.